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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

ANA MARLEN MEMBRENO JIMENEZ,
Case No.:
Plaintiff,
- versus COMPLAINT
JURY DEMANDED

WILLIAM DEGEL and CYNTHIA DEGEL,
Defendants.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
1.

This action seeks to recover owed wages and other damages as a result of Defendants’

violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act and New York Labor Law. Defendants William
Degel and Cynthia Degel employed Plaintiff Ana Marlen Membreno Jimenez as a domestic
worker in their mansions in the Hamptons and in Old Brookville, Long Island. For over three
years, she worked long hours, cleaning their homes and serving the needs of their family.
2.

However, Defendants paid Plaintiff a flat weekly salary that provided less than minimum

wage for the long hours she worked. They never paid her overtime, although she worked more
than 40 hours per week; never paid her “spread of hours” compensation, although she worked
more than 10 hours per day; and never provided her with written notices about her wages, hours,
and other terms of employment as required by law.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
3.

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s federal claims pursuant to the

Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. § 216 and 28 U.S.C. § 1331.
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4.

This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law claims pursuant to 28

U.S.C. § 1367.
5.

Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 (b) and (c), because the

events and omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this District, Plaintiff resides in this
District, and all Defendants reside in this District.
THE PARTIES
Plaintiff
6.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff was a domestic service employee employed

by Defendants to work in their homes, including their primary residence located at 80 McCouns
Lane, Old Brookville, NY 11545 and their summer home in the Hamptons at 54 Quogue
Riverhead Road, Quogue, NY 11959.
7.

As a domestic worker, Plaintiff was personally engaged in commerce or in the production

of goods for commerce between states, within the meaning of the Fair Labor Standards Act and
its implementing regulations.
Defendants
8.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant William Degel was a resident of New

York, residing at 80 McCouns Lane, Old Brookville, NY 11545, and upon information and
belief, currently resides at that address.
9.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant Cynthia Degel was a resident of New York,

residing at 80 McCouns Lane, Old Brookville, NY 11545, and upon information and belief,
currently resides at that address.
10.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant William Degel and Defendant Cynthia

Degel were spouses, and upon information and belief, currently maintain that status.
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11.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant William Degel had the power to hire and

fire Plaintiff, establish her wages, set her work schedule, assign her job duties, and maintain
records of her employment.
12.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant Cynthia Degel had the power to hire and

fire Plaintiff, establish her wages, set her work schedule, assign her job duties, and maintain
records of her employment.
13.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant William Degel was Plaintiff’s employer

within the meaning of the Fair Labor Standards Act and the New York Labor Law.
14.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant Cynthia Degel was Plaintiff’s employer

within the meaning of the Fair Labor Standards Act and the New York Labor Law.
FACTS
15.

From February 2, 2010 to February 10, 2013, Plaintiff Ana Marlen Membreno Jimenez

worked for Defendants William and Cynthia Degel as a domestic worker in their mansions in
Old Brookville, Long Island and in the Hamptons.
16.

Plaintiff worked long hours, five and sometimes six days per week, doing extensive

housework and cleaning, preparing meals, caring for the Defendants’ young children, washing
and ironing clothing, and caring for and cleaning up after the family’s three dogs.
17.

She worked approximately 70 hours per week, for which the Defendants paid her a flat

weekly salary with no premium for overtime or spread of hours.
18.

Plaintiff was initially told she would start out earning $450 per week, and begin earning

$500 per week after three months. However, for approximately the first year, Defendants paid
her only $400 per week.
19.

In 2011, Plaintiff’s weekly salary increased to $450, and in 2012, it increased to $500.
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20.

While Plaintiff’s precise schedule varied based on the demands of Defendants, she

worked approximately 70 hours per week from the time she started working in February 2010
until approximately October 2012.
21.

In October 2012, Plaintiff fell in the bathroom of Defendants’ Hamptons home while

bleaching the floor, injuring herself. She suffered injuries to her back, leg, and foot.
22.

The chronic pain from her injuries necessitated that she rest for approximately one hour

during the workday, so in October 2012, Plaintiff began to work a “relaxed” schedule of
approximately 65 hours per week.
23.

Plaintiff’s last day of work was February 10, 2013.

24.

Throughout her employment, she worked over 40 hours on a weekly basis and a spread of

hours exceeding 10 hours on at least five days per week.
25.

Defendants never paid Plaintiff overtime or spread of hours pay.

26.

Upon information and belief, Defendants kept no records of Plaintiff’s work hours.

27.

Defendants paid Plaintiff in cash on a weekly basis and never provided her with any

written notices regarding her wages and hours or information about her workplace rights.
28.

Defendants failed to post required notices of the federal minimum wage and overtime

laws in Plaintiff’s workplaces.
29.

Defendants knew or should have known that they were required to pay Plaintiff minimum

wages for all work they suffered or permitted and overtime wages for all work they suffered or
permitted in excess of 40 hours per week.
30.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant William Degel owned and operated several

restaurants in New York at which he employed employees. Prior to employing Plaintiff, he was
named as a defendant in a lawsuit by his restaurant employees. Among other claims in that
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lawsuit, filed in the U.S. District Court, Southern District of New York and styled Alonso et al.
v. Uncle Jack’s Steakhouse, Inc. et al. (Case No. 08-CV-7813), were claims by Mr. Degel’s
employees for unpaid overtime under the FLSA and NYLL, and spread of hours pay under the
NYLL.
31.

Defendants’ violations of federal and New York law described above were willful and in

bad faith. They had no reasonable grounds for believing that their failures to pay minimum
wages, overtime wages, and spread of hours pay were consistent with the requirements of the
Fair Labor Standards Act or the New York Labor Law.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
Minimum Wages Under the Fair Labor Standards Act
32.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
33.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff was employed by the Defendants within the

meaning of the FLSA, specifically 29 U.S.C. § 203.
34.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff was an employee covered under the Fair

Labor Standards Act, as an employee engaged in domestic service.
35.

Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff the minimum wage for all hours worked, in violation of

29 U.S.C. § 206.
36.

Defendants’ violations were willful.

37.

Due to Defendants’ FLSA violations, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from Defendants,

jointly and severally, her unpaid minimum wages and an equal amount of damages, as well as
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of the action.
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Overtime Wages Under the Fair Labor Standards Act
38.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
39.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff was employed by the Defendants within the

meaning of the FLSA, specifically 29 U.S.C. § 203.
40.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff was an employee covered under the Fair

Labor Standards Act, as an employee engaged in domestic service.
41.

Throughout her employment with Defendants, Plaintiff worked more than 40 hours in a

week.
42.

Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff overtime wages at rates at least one-and-a-half times

the regular rate of pay for each hour worked in excess of 40 hours per week, in violation of 29
U.S.C. § 207.
43.

Defendants’ violations were willful.

44.

Due to Defendants’ FLSA violations, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from Defendants,

jointly and severally, her unpaid overtime wages and an equal amount of damages, as well as
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of the action.
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Minimum and Regular Wages Under the New York Labor Law
45.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
46.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff was employed by Defendants as a domestic

worker within the meaning of N.Y. Labor Law §§ 2(16) and 651.
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47.

Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff the minimum wage or her regular hourly rate for all

hours worked, in violation of New York Labor Law § 652.
48.

Due to Defendants’ New York Labor Law violations, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from

Defendants, jointly and severally, her unpaid regular wages and an equal amount in the form of
liquidated damages, as well as reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs of the action, and interest.
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Overtime Wages Under the New York Labor Law
49.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
50.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff was employed by Defendants as a domestic

worker within the meaning of N.Y. Labor Law §§ 2(16) and 651.
51.

Throughout her employment, Plaintiff worked more than 40 hours per week, and

Defendants never paid her overtime.
52.

Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff overtime wages at a rate of at least one-and-a-half times

her normal wage rate for each hour worked in excess of 40 hours per week, in violation of New
York Labor Law § 170.
53.

Due to Defendants’ New York Labor Law violations, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from

Defendants, jointly and severally, her unpaid overtime wages and an equal amount in the form of
liquidated damages, as well as reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs of the action, and interest.
FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Spread of Hours Payments Under New York Labor Law
54.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
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55.

At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiff was employed by Defendants within the

meaning of New York Labor Law §§ 2 and 651.
56.

Throughout her employment, Plaintiff worked a spread of hours in excess of 10 hours per

day, at least five days per week.
57.

Defendants never paid Plaintiff an additional hour of pay at the minimum wage for each

day Plaintiff worked a spread of hours in excess of 10 hours per day, in violation of the New
York Labor Law.
58.

Due to Defendants’ New York Labor Law violations, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from

the Defendants, jointly and severally, her unpaid spread of hours wages and an equal amount of
liquidated damages, as well as reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs of the action, and interest.
SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Failure to Provide Notice at Hiring Under New York Labor Law
59.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
60.

Defendants never provided Plaintiff, at the time she was hired or at any time thereafter, a

written notice containing the information required by New York Labor Law § 195(1)(a).
61.

Defendants’ violations continued throughout Plaintiff’s employment.

62.

Due to Defendants’ violations, Plaintiff is entitled to recover statutory damages for each

work week that the violations occurred or continued to occur, together with costs and reasonable
attorney’s fees, and any other relief that the court deems necessary and appropriate.
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SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Failure to Provide Notice of Change in Terms Under New York Labor Law
63.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
64.

Defendants never provided Plaintiff with written notice of changes in her terms of

employment, prior to the times they changed her weekly salary or other terms of employment set
forth in New York Labor Law § 195(1) or at any time thereafter, in violation of New York Labor
Law § 195(2).
65.

Defendants’ violations continued throughout Plaintiff’s employment.
EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Failure to Provide Notice at Payment Under New York Labor Law

66.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
67.

Defendants never provided Plaintiff, with each payment of wages or at any time

thereafter, a written statement containing the dates of work covered by that payment of wages;
name of employee; name of employer; address and phone number of employer; rate(s) of pay
and basis thereof; gross wages; deductions; allowances, if any; net wages; regular hourly rate of
pay; overtime rate of pay; number of regular hours worked; and number of overtime hours
worked, in violation of New York Labor Law § 195(3).
68.

Defendants’ violations continued throughout Plaintiff’s employment.

69.

Due to Defendants’ violations, Plaintiff is entitled to recover statutory damages for each

work week that the violations occurred or continued to occur, together with costs and reasonable
attorney’s fees, and any other relief that the court deems necessary and appropriate.
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NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Failure to Provide Annual Notice Under New York Labor Law
70.

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
71.

Defendants never provided Plaintiff, on or before February 1, 2012 nor on or before

February 1, 2013, written notice containing the information required by New York Labor Law §
195(1)(a).
72.

Defendants’ violations continued throughout Plaintiff’s employment.

73.

Due to Defendants’ violations, Plaintiff is entitled to recover statutory damages for each

work week that the violations occurred or continued to occur, together with costs and reasonable
attorney’s fees, and any other relief that the court deems necessary and appropriate.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court enter an Order:
1.

Declaring that Defendants violated the FLSA and the NYLL;

2.

Declaring that Defendants’ violations of the FLSA were willful;

3.

Granting judgment to Plaintiff for her claims of unpaid wages as secured by the FLSA, as

well as an equal amount in liquidated damages, interest, and costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees;
4.

Granting judgment to Plaintiff for her claims of unpaid wages as secured by the NYLL,

as well as liquidated damages, interest, and her costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees;
5.

Awarding Plaintiff damages due to notice violations under the NYLL;

6.

Awarding Plaintiff pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, as provided by law;

7.

Awarding Plaintiff attorneys’ fees and costs;

8.

Any such further relief as may be just and proper.
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Dated: Queens, New York
July 26, 2013
Respectfully submitted,
CATHOLIC MIGRATION SERVICES
By: _______/s/_______________________
Robert McCreanor, Esq.
47-01 Queens Blvd., Suite 203B
Sunnyside, NY 11104
(347) 472-3500 (tel.)
(347) 472-3501 (fax)
rmccreanor@catholicmigration.org
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
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CIVIL COVER SHEET

-6 5HY

7KH-6FLYLOFRYHUVKHHWDQGWKHLQIRUPDWLRQFRQWDLQHGKHUHLQQHLWKHUUHSODFHQRUVXSSOHPHQWWKHILOLQJDQGVHUYLFHRISOHDGLQJVRURWKHUSDSHUVDVUHTXLUHGE\ODZH[FHSWDV
SURYLGHGE\ORFDOUXOHVRIFRXUW7KLVIRUPDSSURYHGE\WKH-XGLFLDO&RQIHUHQFHRIWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVLQ6HSWHPEHULVUHTXLUHGIRUWKHXVHRIWKH&OHUNRI&RXUWIRUWKH
SXUSRVHRILQLWLDWLQJWKHFLYLOGRFNHWVKHHW(SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS
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Ana Marlen Membreno Jimenez

William Degel and Cynthia Degel
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(b)&RXQW\RI5HVLGHQFHRI)LUVW/LVWHG3ODLQWLII

&RXQW\RI5HVLGHQFHRI)LUVW/LVWHG'HIHQGDQW

(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)

(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)
,1/$1'&21'(01$7,21&$6(686(7+(/2&$7,212)
7+(75$&72)/$1',192/9('

$WWRUQH\V(If Known)
127(

(c)$WWRUQH\V(Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number)
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,VWKHFLYLODFWLRQEHLQJILOHGLQWKH(DVWHUQ'LVWULFWUHPRYHGIURPD1HZ<RUN6WDWH&RXUWORFDWHGLQ1DVVDXRU6XIIRON
No
&RXQW\BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB

 

,I\RXDQVZHUHG³QR´DERYH
D 'LGWKHHYHQWVRURPLVVLRQVJLYLQJULVHWRWKHFODLPRUFODLPVRUDVXEVWDQWLDOSDUWWKHUHRIRFFXULQ1DVVDXRU6XIIRON
Yes
&RXQW\"BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB
E 'LGWKHHYHQWVRIRPLVVLRQVJLYLQJULVHWRWKHFODLPRUFODLPVRUDVXEVWDQWLDOSDUWWKHUHRIRFFXULQWKH(DVWHUQ
Yes
'LVWULFW"BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB

,I\RXUDQVZHUWRTXHVWLRQ E LV³1R´GRHVWKHGHIHQGDQW RUDPDMRULW\RIWKHGHIHQGDQWVLIWKHUHLVPRUHWKDQRQH UHVLGHLQ1DVVDXRU
6XIIRON&RXQW\RULQDQLQWHUSOHDGHUDFWLRQGRHVWKHFODLPDQW RUDPDMRULW\RIWKHFODLPDQWVLIWKHUHLVPRUHWKDQRQH UHVLGHLQ1DVVDX
RU6XIIRON&RXQW\"BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB
1RWH$FRUSRUDWLRQVKDOOEHFRQVLGHUHGDUHVLGHQWRIWKH&RXQW\LQZKLFKLWKDVWKHPRVWVLJQLILFDQWFRQWDFWV 
%$5$'0,66,21
,DPFXUUHQWO\DGPLWWHGLQWKH(DVWHUQ'LVWULFWRI1HZ<RUNDQGFXUUHQWO\DPHPEHULQJRRGVWDQGLQJRIWKHEDURIWKLVFRXUW
<HV
1R
$UH\RXFXUUHQWO\WKHVXEMHFWRIDQ\GLVFLSOLQDU\DFWLRQ V LQWKLVRUDQ\RWKHUVWDWHRUIHGHUDOFRXUW"
<HV
,I\HVSOHDVHH[SODLQ 
1R

,FHUWLI\WKHDFFXUDF\RIDOOLQIRUPDWLRQSURYLGHGDERYH
6LJQDWXUHBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB

